
Page 1 

 

 
 
 

AGENDA  
 
Meeting: Eastern Area Planning Committee 

Place: Wessex Room, Corn Exchange, Devizes 

Date: Thursday 5 January 2017 

Time: 6.00 pm 

 

 
Please direct any enquiries on this Agenda to Becky Holloway, of Democratic Services, 
County Hall, Bythesea Road, Trowbridge, direct line 01225 718063 or email 
becky.holloway@wiltshire.gov.uk 
 
Press enquiries to Communications on direct lines (01225) 713114/713115. 
 
This Agenda and all the documents referred to within it are available on the Council’s 
website at www.wiltshire.gov.uk  
 

 
Membership: 
 

Cllr Charles Howard (Chairman) 
Cllr Mark Connolly (Vice Chairman) 
Cllr Stewart Dobson 
Cllr Peter Evans 

Cllr Nick Fogg MBE 
Cllr Richard Gamble 
Cllr Jerry Kunkler 
Cllr Paul Oatway QPM 

 

 
Substitutes: 
 

Cllr Terry Chivers 
Cllr Ernie Clark 
Cllr Anna Cuthbert 
Cllr Dennis Drewett 

 

 

Cllr James Sheppard 
Cllr Philip Whitehead 
Cllr Christopher Williams 

 

http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/


Page 2 

 

Recording and Broadcasting Information 
 
Wiltshire Council may record this meeting for live and/or subsequent broadcast on the 

Council’s website at http://www.wiltshire.public-i.tv.  At the start of the meeting, the 

Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being recorded. The images and 

sound recordings may also be used for training purposes within the Council. 

 

By entering the meeting room you are consenting to being recorded and to the use of 

those images and recordings for broadcasting and/or training purposes. 

 

The meeting may also be recorded by the press or members of the public. 

  

Any person or organisation choosing to film, record or broadcast any meeting of the 

Council, its Cabinet or committees is responsible for any claims or other liability resulting 

from them so doing and by choosing to film, record or broadcast proceedings they 

accept that they are required to indemnify the Council, its members and officers in 

relation to any such claims or liabilities. 

 

Details of the Council’s Guidance on the Recording and Webcasting of Meetings is 

available on request. 

Parking 
 

To find car parks by area follow this link. The three Wiltshire Council Hubs where most 
meetings will be held are as follows: 
 
County Hall, Trowbridge 
Bourne Hill, Salisbury 
Monkton Park, Chippenham 
 
County Hall and Monkton Park have some limited visitor parking. Please note for 
meetings at County Hall you will need to log your car’s registration details upon your 
arrival in reception using the tablet provided. If you may be attending a meeting for more 
than 2 hours, please provide your registration details to the Democratic Services Officer, 
who will arrange for your stay to be extended. 
 

Public Participation 
 

Please see the agenda list on following pages for details of deadlines for submission of 
questions and statements for this meeting. 
 
For extended details on meeting procedure, submission and scope of questions and 
other matters, please consult Part 4 of the council’s constitution. 
 
The full constitution can be found at this link.  
 
For assistance on these and other matters please contact the officer named above for 

details 

http://www.wiltshire.public-i.tv/
http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/parkingtransportandstreets/carparking/findacarpark.htm?area=Trowbridge
https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD1629&ID=1629&RPID=12066789&sch=doc&cat=13959&path=13959
https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1392&MId=10753&Ver=4


Page 3 

 

AGENDA 

 

 Part I  

 Items to be considered when the meeting is open to the public 

 

1   Apologies for Absence  

 To receive any apologies or substitutions for the meeting. 

 

2   Minutes of the Previous Meeting  

 To approve and sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on  

 

3   Declarations of Interest  

 To receive any declarations of disclosable interests or dispensations granted by 
the Standards Committee. 

 

4   Chairman's Announcements  

 To receive any announcements through the Chair. 

 

5   Public Participation  

 The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public. 
 
Statements 
Members of the public who wish to speak either in favour or against an 
application or any other item on this agenda are asked to register by phone, 
email or in person no later than 5.50pm on the day of the meeting. 
 
The rules on public participation in respect of planning applications are detailed 
in the Council’s Planning Code of Good Practice. The Chairman will allow up to 
3 speakers in favour and up to 3 speakers against an application and up to 3 
speakers on any other item on this agenda. Each speaker will be given up to 3 
minutes and invited to speak immediately prior to the item being considered.  
 
Members of the public will have had the opportunity to make representations on 
the planning applications and to contact and lobby their local member and any 
other members of the planning committee prior to the meeting. Lobbying once 
the debate has started at the meeting is not permitted, including the circulation 
of new information, written or photographic which have not been verified by 
planning officers. 
 
 



Page 4 

 

Questions  
To receive any questions from members of the public or members of the Council 
received in accordance with the constitution which excludes, in particular, 
questions on non-determined planning applications.  
 
Those wishing to ask questions are required to give notice of any such 
questions in writing to the officer named on the front of this agenda no later than 
5pm on 28th December 2017 in order to be guaranteed of a written response. In 
order to receive a verbal response questions must be submitted no later than 
5pm on 30th December 2017. Please contact the officer named on the front of 
this agenda for further advice. Questions may be asked without notice if the 
Chairman decides that the matter is urgent. 
 
Details of any questions received will be circulated to Committee members prior 
to the meeting and made available at the meeting and on the Council’s website. 

 

6   Planning Appeals and Updates  

 To receive details of the completed and pending appeals. 

 

7   CM09762 - COMMONS ACT 2006 - SECTION 15(1) AND (2) APPLICATION 
TO REGISTER LAND AS A TOWN OR VILLAGE GREEN - THE PLAY AREA 
IN MORRIS ROAD/COLLEGE FIELDS IN THE BARTON PARK/COLLEGE 
FIELDS RESIDENTIAL AREA, MARLBOROUGH (Pages 5 - 12) 

 

8   Urgent items  

 Any other items of business which, in the opinion of the Chairman, should be 
taken as a matter of urgency   

 

 Part II  

 Item during whose consideration it is recommended that the public should be excluded 
because of the likelihood that exempt information would be disclosed 



CM09762/F 1 

WILTSHIRE COUNCIL  AGENDA ITEM NO. 
 
EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
 5 JANUARY 2017 
 

 
COMMONS ACT 2006 – SECTION 15(1) AND (2) APPLICATION TO REGISTER 

LAND AS A TOWN OR VILLAGE GREEN – THE PLAY AREA IN MORRIS 
ROAD/COLLEGE FIELDS IN THE BARTON PARK/COLLEGE FIELDS 

RESIDENTIAL AREA, MARLBOROUGH  
 
 

Purpose of Report 
 
1. To seek approval to appoint an independent Inspector to hold a non-statutory 

public inquiry and provide an advisory report for the Eastern Area Planning 
Committee on the application to register land as a town or village green in 
Barton Park/College Fields, Marlborough. 

 
Relevance to Council’s Business Plan 
 
2. Working with the local community to maintain an up-to-date register of town 

and village greens to make Wiltshire an even better place to live, work and 
visit. 

 
Background 
 
3. On 18 May 2015 Mr. I. Mellor, resident of Barton Park, applied to Wiltshire 

Council as commons registration authority (‘CRA’) to register the play area in 
Morris Road/College Fields, Barton Park as a town or village green under 
Sections 15(1) and 15(2) of the Commons Act 2006.  The application land is 
shown edged red on the plan below: 

 

             
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 7



CM09762/F 2 

4. The applicant stated on his application form that the land the application 
relates to was planned as open space with the housing development; it was 
transferred to Kennet District Council and has been used by the community 
for over 25 years.  Nineteen statements concerning use of the land were 
submitted with the application in its support.  Kennet District Council owned 
the land from 1993 and ownership was transferred to Wiltshire Council in 
2009 when it became a unitary authority. 

 
5. Receipt of the application was advertised in the Wiltshire Gazette and Herald 

on 30 July 2015 and on site.  Two objections were received to the application, 
one from Wiltshire Council as land owner and the other from solicitors acting 
on behalf of Marlborough College.  Ninety five representations on the 
application were received by the Council as a result of the public notice 
posting.  

 

Main Considerations for the Council 
 

6. Wiltshire Council is the commons registration authority and has a statutory 
duty to determine the application.  The burden of proof lies on the applicant 
for registration of a new green.  All the elements required to establish a new 
green must be properly and strictly proved.  The standard of proof is the civil 
standard of proof on the balance of probabilities that ‘a significant number of 
inhabitants of any locality or of any neighbourhood within a locality have 
indulged as of right in lawful sports and pastimes over the land for a period of 
at least 20 years and that use is continuing at the time of application’.  The 
council, as CRA, has no investigative duty in relation to village green 
applications which would require it to find evidence or reformulate the 
applicant’s case.  The CRA is entitled to deal with the application and the 
evidence as presented by the parties (the applicant and landowner and any 
parties objecting to the application).  There are currently no regulations in 
force which set out a process by which a CRA should determine applications 
of this type.  

 

7. The application is disputed.  Wiltshire Council, as landowner, objects to the 
application on the following grounds: 

 
“1. The land has been the subject of a series of Planning Agreements 

under Section 52 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1971, 
culminating in an Agreement dated 10 February 1983 and a 
Supplemental Agreement dated 29 March 1985 between Kennet 
District Council (1) Marlborough College (2) and W E Chivers and Sons 
Limited (3) whereby Marlborough College agreed to convey to the 
Council not less than four and a half acres as an open space area 
which corresponds in location with the site of the application. 

2. By Transfer dated 19 August 1993, the land was transferred to Kennet 
District Council. 

3. From 1 April 2009 Wiltshire Council became unitary authority merging 
Wiltshire County Council with Kennet District Council and the other 
three District Councils.   

4. The land is maintained by Wiltshire Council as a public open space 
under a current maintenance contract. 

5. The application does not satisfy the use “as of right” requirement and 
the application should therefore fail.” 

 

Page 6



CM09762/F 3 

8. Section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 provides that to register land as a town 
or village green it must be shown that: 

 
A significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any 
neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful 
sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years.  
 

9. The Supreme Court Judgement given on 21 May 2014 in R (on the 
application of Barkas) (Appellant) v North Yorkshire County Council and 
another (Respondents) is the leading authority on whether use has been “as 
of right”, which satisfies the legal criterion for registration, or “by right”, which 
does not.  In the words of Lord Neuberger: 

 
 “ 24…where the owner of the land is a local, or other public authority which 
 has lawfully allocated the land for public use (whether for a limited period or 
 an indefinite period), it is impossible to see how, at least in the absence of 
 unusual additional facts, it could be appropriate to infer that members of the 
 public have been using the land “as of right”, simply because the authority has 
 not objected to them using the land. It seems very unlikely that, in such a 
 case, the legislature could have intended that such land would become a 
 village green after the public had used it for twenty years. It would not merely 
 be understandable why the local authority had not objected to the public use: 
 it would be positively inconsistent with their allocation decision if they had 
 done so. The position is very different from that of a private owner, with no 
 legal duty and no statutory power to allocate land for public use, with no ability 
 to allocate land as a village green, and who would be expected to protect his 
 or her legal rights.” 
 
10. Marlborough College objects to the application for the following reasons: 
 

(i) Failure to demonstrate use by a significant number of inhabitants of the 
claimed locality. 
 

(ii) Failure to demonstrate continuous use (by a significant number) for the 
whole of the claimed 20 year period. 

 
(iii) Any claimed use of the claimed land by members of the public has 

been “by right” not “as of right”. 
 
11. There is a serious dispute regarding the factual evidence in this case, the 

application is of great local interest and Wiltshire Council owns the land which 
the applicant seeks to register as a town or village green.  The council, as 
CRA, must determine the application in a manner fair to all the parties.   This 
may be achieved by appointing an independent Inspector who would normally 
be a barrister who is an expert in village green law to either advise the council 
on how to proceed with determining the application or to hold a non-statutory 
public inquiry and produce a non statutory recommendation to the council for 
the council’s consideration.  In holding a public inquiry an independent 
inspector considers the evidence and submissions and law relied upon by the 
applicant and the objectors and reports on these to the council with a 
recommendation of how to determine the application. The inspector’s 
recommendation could then be considered by the Eastern Area Planning 
Committee.  The committee could either accept the inspector’s 
recommendations or, if the committee found the inspector’s recommendation 

Page 7



CM09762/F 4 

has significantly erred in law or in fact, could reject the recommendation.   
However, if the inspector’s recommendation is rejected by committee and 
there is no evidence of significant errors in law or fact in the recommendation, 
there would be an increased risk of the committee’s decision being challenged 
in judicial review proceedings in the High Court.  

 
12. The committee’s attention is also brought to the High Court decision in the 

case of Somerford Parish Council v Cheshire East Borough Council (1) and 
Richborough Estates (2) 2016 where the High Court quashed the local 
Borough Council’s decision not to register land as a new town or village green 
on the basis of procedural error.  The High Court’s decision in the Somerford 
Parish Council case reinforces the Court’s view that there is a need for a 
commons registration authority to hold a non-statutory public inquiry where 
there are sufficient disputes over evidence and or factual issues.   

 
13. Where a town or village green application is refused by a CRA the applicant 

can appeal that decision by way of judicial review to the High Court.  
Applications of this nature usually, as can be seen from paragraph 29, focus 
closely on the procedure used in the decision making process.  To safeguard 
both the reputation of the council and to avoid the serious financial costs of 
defending an action for judicial review it is imperative that the proper 
procedure is followed by the council in the decision making process. 

 
Overview and Scrutiny Engagement 
 
14. The determination of Town and Village Green applications is governed by 

statutory regulations, relevant case law and non-statutory guidance. 
 
Safeguarding Implications 
 
15. There are no safeguarding implications arising from this report. 
 
Public Health Implications 
 
16. There are no public health implications arising from this report. 
 
Corporate Procurement Implications 
 
17. The procurement implications of processing the application are dealt with 

under the Financial Implications section below. 
 
Equalities Impact of the Proposal 
 
18. There are no equalities impacts arising from the proposal. 
 
Environmental and Climate Change Considerations 
 
19. There are no known environmental and climate change considerations arising 

from this report. 
 
Risk Assessment 
 
20. The financial and legal risks are set out in the Financial Implications and Legal 

Implications sections in paragraphs 21 to 30 below.  Page 8



CM09762/F 5 

Financial Implications 
 
21. There is no mechanism by which a CRA may charge the applicant for 

processing an application to register land as a town or village green and all 
the costs for holding a non-statutory public inquiry are borne by the council. 
There is no budgetary provision for such non-statutory processes.  

 
22. The estimated costs of holding a non-statutory public inquiry would include 

those for an initial read and drafting directions and further directions if 
considered necessary, site visit, preparation for the inquiry and first day and 
refreshers (time spent on the inquiry in excess of the original time estimate for 
the inquiry) writing the report, expenses (capped at 45p per mile travel and 
hotel accommodation at £100 per night).  The normal hourly rate is £110 per 
hour.  Total inquiry costs will depend on how long the inquiry will need to sit 
but are estimated at this early stage to be in the region of £16,000 to £18,000.   

 
Legal Implications 
 
23. Where the CRA decides not to register the land as a town or village green, the 

only right of appeal open to the applicant is through judicial review 
proceedings and challenging the lawfulness of the decision in the High Court.  
The court’s permission to bring proceedings is required and the application 
must be made within three months of the date of the decision to determine the 
village green application   

 
24. The landowner is also able to seek a judicial review of the CRA’s decision to 

register their land as a town or village green.   
 
25.  Judicial review proceedings are a complex area of administrative law where 

as previously stated every aspect of the law and facts relevant to the decision 
(in this case the relevant statute is the Commons Act 2006 together with 
village green case law) and the decision making process would be subject to 
detailed analysis by the High Court.  Due to the complexity of such cases the 
legal costs can quickly escalate.  If the judicial review proceedings are not 
successfully defended, the Aarhus convention (concerning the legal costs for 
environmental cases) does limit the costs liability so far as the council as CRA 
is concerned (if the case is lost) to £35,000; however, the CRA would also be 
required to meet its own legal costs to defend the case (which would be a 
broadly similar sum if not more depending on the issues that may arise during 
the proceedings) in addition to the applicant’s costs.  The applicant’s potential 
maximum costs liability if their case is unsuccessful is £5,000.    

 
26 The issue of ‘pre-determination’ or approaching decision with a ‘closed mind’ 

(or having already made up their mind on the application before considering 
the evidence and the inspector’s recommendation and making the decision) is 
a serious allegation and one that a CRA must avoid.  There is a potential 
reputational issue for a commons registration authority if after a legal challenge a 
court was to make a finding that ‘pre-determination’ took place before a 
committee made a formal decision to determine an application to register land as 
a town or village green.    

 
 

Page 9



CM09762/F 6 

27.  The Committee should note that the Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013 
amended the Commons Act 2006 to: 

 
(i) reduce the period within which a town or village green application can 

be made (after the requisite 20 years of recreational use “as of right” 
has ceased) from two years to one year; 

 
(ii) allow landowners to deposit a map and statement to protect their land 

from registration as a town or village green, whilst allowing access to 
the land; 
  

(iii) exclude the right to apply to register land as a town or village green 
under Section 15(1) of the 2006 Act where any of a number of 
specified events (‘trigger events’) occurs.  

 
28. If the decision is quashed by the High Court either by consent or after a 

substantive hearing it will be sent back to the CRA to be re-made.  
 
29. A recent High Court case has considered the procedural issues for 

determining an application to register land as a town or village green.  In 
March 2016 the High Court considered an application by a parish council for 
judicial review of the decision of Cheshire East Borough Council concerning 
an application to record two verges as a town or village green (Somerford 
Parish Council v Cheshire East Borough Council & Anor [2016] EWHC 619).  
The application for judicial review was made on the following grounds: 

 
(i) Cheshire East Borough Council breached the rule of natural justice by 

acting as its own judge. 
 

(ii) Counsel instructed by the Borough Council was not independent. 
 
(iii) There were procedural errors; counsel allowed the Borough Council to 

put in evidence out of time and the applicant was given no opportunity 
to respond to the late evidence. 

 
(iv) The Council should have held a public inquiry before making its 

recommendation.  
 
30. The High Court rejected the first two arguments and held that a commons 

registration authority is entitled to determine a town and village green 
application providing it instructs independent legal counsel and secondly, 
legal counsel is deemed to be independent and any communications with that 
independent counsel would not be considered to be legally privileged. The 
High Court held that it was procedurally unfair for the applicant not to have 
been given a chance to respond to the evidence which was, itself, submitted 
out of time.  In addition, the judge found that the dispute as to whether or not 
the grass verges were highway was serious enough to necessitate a public 
inquiry.  The decision of the Borough Council was therefore quashed on 
grounds (iii) and (iv). 

 
 
 
 

Page 10

http://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/Admin/2016/619.html
http://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/Admin/2016/619.html


CM09762/F 7 

Options Considered 
 
31. Members of the Committee must consider the following possible decisions 

open to them: 
 

(i) To appoint an independent inspector to advise the council on how to 
proceed with determining the application 
 

(ii) To appoint an independent inspector to hold a non-statutory public 
inquiry and produce an advisory report with his or her findings and 
recommendations for the council’s consideration as CRA. 

 
Reasons for Proposal 
 
32. There is a serious dispute regarding the evidence and the application is of 

great local interest.  Wiltshire Council owns the land which the applicant seeks 
to register as a town or village green.  In paragraph 30 above the Committee’s 
attention was brought to the High Court judgement in the case of Somerford 
Parish Council v Cheshire East Borough Council.  The case was brought to 
the High Court on the basis of procedural error by the Borough Council.  The 
case highlights a number of practical points for the Committee to note and 
consider regarding privilege, equity and the importance of public inquiries in 
determining an application to register land as a town or village green in 
disputed cases and where the land is owned by a local authority.  The 
decision of the High Court also reinforces the findings in R (Whitmey) v 
Commons Commissioners and the need for a commons registration authority 
to hold a non-statutory public inquiry where there are sufficient disputes over 
factual issues.  

 
33. Where the CRA decides not to register land as a town or village green there is 

no right of appeal to the council as CRA or for example to the Secretary of 
State as there is in relation to a planning application.  The applicant’s course 
for redress is by way of an application for judicial review made to the High 
Court.  Applications of this nature usually, as can be seen in paragraph 29 
above, focus closely on the procedure used in the decision making process.  
To safeguard both the reputation of the council, and to avoid the serious 
financial costs of defending an action for judicial review, it is imperative that 
the council adopts the proper decision making process in dealing with this 
application.  

 
Proposal 
 
34. To seek approval to appoint an independent Inspector to hold a non-statutory 

public inquiry and provide an advisory report for the Eastern Area Planning 
Committee on the application to register land as a town or village green in 
Barton Park/College Fields, Marlborough. 

 
 
 
TRACY CARTER 
Associate Director – Waste and Environment 
 
 Page 11



CM09762/F 8 

Report Author  
Barbara Burke 
Definitive Map and Highway Records Team Leader 

 
 

 
The following unpublished documents have been relied on in the preparation 
of this Report: 
 
 None 
 
Appendices: 
 
 None 
 

Page 12


	Agenda
	7 CM09762 - COMMONS ACT 2006 - SECTION 15(1) AND (2) APPLICATION TO REGISTER LAND AS A TOWN OR VILLAGE GREEN - THE PLAY AREA IN MORRIS ROAD/COLLEGE FIELDS IN THE BARTON PARK/COLLEGE FIELDS RESIDENTIAL AREA, MARLBOROUGH

